

Standing Committee on Public Accounts

35th Yukon Legislative Assembly

First Report

Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon Department of Health and Social Services

October 2021

Standing Committee on Public Accounts

35th Yukon Legislative Assembly

First Report

Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon Department of Health and Social Services October 2021

Currie Dixon, MLA

Copperbelt North Chair

Kate White, MLA

Takhini-Kopper King Vice-Chair

Scott Kent, MLA

Copperbelt South

Hon. Richard Mostyn, Hon. Jeanie McLean, MLA

Whitehorse West

MLA

Mountainview

Allison Lloyd Clerk to the Committee

Volume 30



Yukon Legislative Assembly

Standing Committee on Public Accounts

35th Yukon Legislative Assembly

October 18, 2021

Hon. Jeremy Harper, MLA Speaker Yukon Legislative Assembly

Dear Sir:

On behalf of the members of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts, appointed by order of the 35th Yukon Legislative Assembly, I have the honour to present the committee's First Report.

Sincerely,

Currie Dixon, MLA

Chair

Table of Contents

Preface	i
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts	
This report	
First Report	1
Introduction	1
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts' Findings	3
Conclusion	3
Appendices	

Preface

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts

The basic purpose of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts is to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in public spending. The committee's authority is derived from Standing Order 45(3) of the *Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative Assembly*, which says

At the commencement of the first Session of each Legislature a Standing Committee on Public Accounts shall be appointed and the Public Accounts and all Reports of the Auditor General shall stand referred automatically and permanently to the said Committee as they become available.

On May 17, 2021, the Yukon Legislative Assembly adopted the following motion:

THAT Currie Dixon, Scott Kent, the Hon. Richard Mostyn, the Hon. Jeanie McLean, and Kate White be appointed to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts established pursuant to Standing Order 45(3);

THAT the committee have the power to call for persons, papers, and records and to sit during intersessional periods; and

THAT the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly be responsible for providing the necessary support services to the committee. (Motion No. 11)

The committee first met on June 1, 2021. At that meeting, the committee elected Currie Dixon as Chair and Kate White as Vice-Chair.

This report

On June 7, 2021, the Office of the Auditor General of Canada presented a report, entitled Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, to the Hon. Jeremy Harper, the Speaker of the Yukon Legislative Assembly. The Speaker then authorized the report's distribution to Members of the Legislative Assembly and once members had received their copies the report became a public document.

On the same day, Members of the Yukon Legislative Assembly had the opportunity to ask officials from the Office of the Auditor General of Canada questions during an in-camera video conference briefing.

The Public Accounts Committee of the 35th Legislative Assembly first discussed the report at its second meeting on June 7, 2021. At this meeting the committee adopted the following motion:

THAT the Standing Committee on Public Accounts hold a public hearing on the Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon - Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon - Department of Health and Social Services on Tuesday, August 3, 2021.

At its next meeting on June 30, 2021, the committee discussed changing the public hearing to a later date due to the prevailing COVID-19 outbreak in Yukon and the

challenges facing the Department of Health and Social Services. At this meeting Emily Tredger substituted for committee member Kate White and the Hon. John Streicker substituted for the Hon. Jeanie McLean. It was agreed by motion:

THAT, notwithstanding the committee's decision on June 7, 2021, the Standing Committee on Public Accounts hold the public hearing on the *Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon - Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon - Department of Health and Social Services* on Wednesday, August 18, 2021, at 1:30 p.m.

The committee collectively prepared questions for the public hearing and agreed to provide the questions to the Department of Health and Social Services to facilitate the department's preparations.

The public hearing took place in the Legislative Assembly Chamber on Wednesday, August 18, 2021.

The following witnesses from the Department of Health and Social Services appeared: Stephen Samis, Deputy Minister, Shehnaz Ali, Assistant Deputy Minister, Social Services, Cameron Grandy, Acting Director, Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services, and Sonya Parsons, Director, Human Resources. The transcripts of the hearing are appended to this report.

Prior to the hearing the Department of Health and Social Services provided a status report and action plan to update the committee on progress made since the release of the Auditor General's report. Following the hearing the committee requested that the department answer additional questions in writing. The Department of Health and Social Services provided a written response on September 24, 2021. The documents provided by the department are appended to this report.

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, officials from the Office of the Auditor General of Canada did not appear as witnesses. The Office of the Auditor General of Canada provided the committee with a written statement on August 18, 2021, which is appended to this report. Casey Thomas, Assistant Auditor General, Glenn Wheeler, Principal, Tammy Meagher, Director, and Marie-Josée Gougeon, Director, met with the committee in camera via videoconference during some of the committee's deliberations on the Auditor General's report.

The committee held meetings August 24, September 29 and October 15, 2021, to prepare its first report. The Hon. Ranj Pillai served as a substitute for the Hon. Richard Mostyn at the meeting on August 24, 2021. At the meeting on October 15, 2021, the Hon. Ranj Pillai served as a substitute for the Hon. Jeanie McLean and Emily Tredger substituted for Kate White.

The Auditor General's report, transcripts of the public hearing, committee meeting minutes, documents submitted to the committee, and this report may be found on the committee's web page at: https://yukonassembly.ca/committees/pac

The committee would like to thank officials from the Office of the Auditor General of Canada for their assistance in preparing the committee for the hearing and in assisting in the preparation of this report.

The committee would also like to thank the officials from the Department of Health and Social Services who appeared as witnesses at the public hearing and provided additional information.



Yukon Legislative Assembly

Standing Committee on Public Accounts

35th Yukon Legislative Assembly

First Report

Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon Department of Health and Social Services October 2021

Introduction

1.The Office of the Auditor General of Canada released its Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services on June 7, 2021. In conducting the audit, the Office of the Auditor General "focused on whether the Department of Health and Social Services provided Yukoners living in rural areas with mental wellness and substance use services that met their needs." 1

2. The audit found that:

The department did engage and consult with many stakeholders to identify the mental health service needs of rural residents, though some of these consultations took place after the hub model was developed. Ongoing engagement with stakeholders as well as measuring and reporting on the services currently being offered will help the department adjust its service model as needed to better meet client needs.

¹ Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraph 12

Though the department has increased access to mental health services, it has struggled to recruit and retain staff to deliver these services. This is a challenge in northern communities, and more so in rural and remote areas. The department will need to address this challenge to fully realize the potential benefits of providing mental health services in rural Yukon through its hubs.²

3. The Auditor General's report made four recommendations:

The Department of Health and Social Services should regularly consult with a broad representation of residents of rural communities to identify and implement adjustments and improvements so that the department provides the mental health services that are most needed.³

The Department of Health and Social Services should complete and implement a recruitment and retention strategy for mental health service providers that considers the unique challenges faced by the rural communities and propose innovative solutions to address these challenges.⁴

The Department of Health and Social Services should develop and implement a plan to work with First Nations to improve cultural safety in service delivery on an ongoing basis.⁵

The Department of Health and Social Services should establish, measure, and report on the performance of its mental health services in rural Yukon.⁶

4. The department agreed with all the recommendations.

² Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraphs 18-20.

³ Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraph 38

⁴ Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraph 68.

⁵ Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraph 82.

⁶ Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services, paragraph 94.

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts' Findings

5.In his opening remarks at the public hearing on August 18, 2021, the Chair described the committee's role:

The Public Accounts Committee is an all-party committee with a mandate to ensure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in public spending — in other words, accountability for the use of public funds.

...our task is not to challenge government policy but to examine its implementation.⁷

- 6. The committee accepts and endorses the recommendations made by the Auditor General.
- 7.Based on the evidence provided by witnesses during the public hearing and the response to clarification questions received after the hearing, the committee believes that the department has seriously considered the Auditor General's recommendations. In some cases actions to deal with the problems identified in the report have already been taken. Further ongoing action continues to be taken to implement the recommendations identified in the Auditor General's report.
- 8. The Public Accounts Committee is committed to following up on the implementation of the Auditor General's recommendations. The committee intends to review the progress made by the Department of Health and Social Services and continue to reexamine any outstanding recommendations.
- 9.**Recommendation:** THAT that the Department of Health and Social Services provide an update to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts by January 31, 2022, on progress made on the four recommendations in the *Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon Department of Health and Social Services.*

Conclusion

10. The committee would like to thank the officials from the Office of the Auditor General of Canada for their work on the performance audit report and for the assistance offered to the committee.

- 11. The committee would also like to thank the department officials who appeared as witnesses before the committee at the public hearing and responded to the committee's requests for additional information.
- 12. This is report the committee is making one recommendation:

Recommendation: THAT that the Department of Health and Social Services provide by January 31, 2022, an update to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts on progress made on the four recommendations in the Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services.

3

⁷ Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, August 18, 2021 page 1-1.

13. The Public Accounts Committee wishes to note that the committee's follow up on the implementation of the recommendations contained in the Auditor General's report may include holding further public hearings. The committee has the power to call for persons, papers and records and to sit during intersessional periods.

Appendices

Transcript of public hearing August 18, 2021

Written statement by the Office of the Auditor General of Canada

Documents provided by the Department of Health and Social Services:

- Status report, dated August 13, 2021
- Action plan, dated August 13, 2021
- Response to clarification questions, dated September 24, 2021



Yukon Legislative Assembly

Issue 1 35th Legislature

STANDING COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Public Proceedings: Evidence

Wednesday, August 18, 2021 — 1:30 p.m.

Chair: Currie Dixon

STANDING COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Chair: Currie Dixon Vice-Chair: Kate White

Members: Scott Kent

Hon. Jeanie McLean Hon. Richard Mostyn

Clerk: Allison Lloyd, Clerk of Committees

Witnesses: Department of Health and Social Services

Stephen Samis, Deputy Minister

Shehnaz Ali, Assistant Deputy Minister, Social Services

Cameron Grandy, Acting Director, Mental Wellness and Substance

Use Services

Sonya Parsons, Director, Human Resources

EVIDENCE Whitehorse, Yukon Wednesday, August 18, 2021 — 1:30 p.m.

Chair (Mr. Dixon): I will now call to order this hearing of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts of the Yukon Legislative Assembly.

The Public Accounts Committee is established by Standing Order 45(3) of the Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative Assembly. This standing order says: "At the commencement of the first Session of each Legislature a Standing Committee on Public Accounts shall be appointed and the Public Accounts and all Reports of the Auditor General shall stand referred automatically and permanently to the said Committee as they become available."

On May 17, 2021, the Yukon Legislative Assembly adopted Motion No. 11, which established the current Public Accounts Committee. In addition to appointing members to the Committee, the motion stipulated that the Committee shall "have the power to call for persons, papers and records and to sit during intersessional periods."

Today, pursuant to Standing Order 45(3) and Motion No. 11, the Committee will investigate the Auditor General of Canada's report entitled: Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon — Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon — Department of Health and Social Services.

I would like to thank the witnesses from the Department of Health and Social Services for appearing today. I believe Deputy Minister Stephen Samis will introduce these witnesses during his opening remarks.

I will now introduce the members of the Public Accounts Committee. My name is Currie Dixon. I'm the Chair of the Committee and the Member of the Legislative Assembly for Copperbelt North. To my left is Kate White, who is the Committee's Vice-Chair and the Member for Takhini-Kopper King. To her left is the Hon. Jeanie McLean, Member for Mountainview. To her left is Scott Kent, Member of the Legislative Assembly for Copperbelt South. Finally, behind me, is the Hon. Richard Mostyn, Member for Whitehorse West.

The Public Accounts Committee is an all-party committee with a mandate to ensure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in public spending — in other words, accountability for the use of public funds.

The purpose of this public hearing is to address issues of the implementation of policies — whether programs are being effectively and efficiently delivered — and not to question the policies of the Government of Yukon. In other words, our task is not to challenge government policy but to examine its implementation. The results of our deliberations will be reported back to the Legislative Assembly.

To begin the proceedings, Mr. Samis will make an opening statement on behalf of the Department of Health and Social Services. Committee members will then ask questions. As is the Committee's practice, the members devise and compile the questions collectively. We then divide them up among the members. The questions that each member will ask are not just

their personal questions on a particular subject but those of the entire Committee.

After the hearing, the Committee will prepare a report of its proceedings, including any recommendations that the Committee wishes to make. This report will be tabled in the Legislative Assembly.

Before we start the hearing, I would like to ask that questions and answers be kept brief and to the point so that we may deal with as many issues as possible in the time allotted for this hearing.

I would like to also ask that Committee members and witnesses wait until they are recognized by the Chair before speaking. This will keep the discussion more orderly and will allow those listening on the radio or over the Internet to know who is speaking.

We will now proceed with Mr. Samis' opening statement. Mr. Samis, go ahead.

Mr. Samis: Good afternoon. As Deputy Minister of the Department of Health and Social Services, I am pleased to appear before the Public Accounts Committee to respond to the performance audit conducted by the Auditor General of Canada that was provided to the Yukon Legislative Assembly on June 7, 2021.

I would like to start by introducing the key officials from my department who are here with me today. To my left is Shehnaz Ali, assistant deputy minister of Social Services; to my immediate right, Cameron Grandy, acting director of Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services; and on my far right, Sonya Parsons, director of Human Resources.

We will respond to your questions to the best of our ability. If you require additional information or greater detail than we can provide at the moment, we will be prepared to have it sent to you without delay.

I know that we will explore many of the issues further as we go through this process today. However, I would like to — and thank you, Mr. Chair — make some initial remarks in response to the Auditor General's report, which focused on three main themes and made four recommendations.

Firstly, we want to recognize that we thank the OAG for the audit and the recommendations that will support the department in continuous improvement in the provision of these important services to Yukoners. The overall findings of the audit team were positive. Indeed, as stated in paragraph 18 of the report, the auditors determined that the Department of Health and Social Services successfully increased access to mental health services in rural communities during the time frame of the audit from May 5, 2016 to September 1, 2020. This success is due to a great deal of hard work, structural and cultural change within the department, and a strong focus on collaboration and working in partnership with community partners, particularly Yukon First Nations. The auditors included a number of areas in which our department has improved the provision of mental health and substance use services in rural Yukon, thanks to the hub model and increased collaboration with local communities and First Nations.

We noted many areas where the auditors provided positive findings that provide learnings for the department for future work. While there are numerous instances, I would like to highlight several for you today.

In the area of identifying need, the auditors note in paragraph 21 that the department "... conducted research and consultations with various stakeholders to identify and understand the mental health service needs of rural residents."

Following on the needs identification, the auditors recognized that we created a needs-based service delivery model — the mental wellness and substance use hubs.

Paragraphs 31 and 32 state that the auditors "... found that the department's model incorporated research on approaches from ... across Canada with the results of its previous needs assessments and consultations..." and "... also found that the department worked with Yukon First Nations, stakeholders, and other community members in developing its hub model."

The development and implementation of the mental wellness and substance community hubs has increased access to mental health and substance use services in rural communities, and this was recognized by the auditors in the section entitled: "The department increased access to rural mental health services". They also note that: "The hubs gave rural Yukoners access to services ... in their communities or in closer proximity than what was available in the past..." and that the department finally "... increased access to mental health services by integrating 3 separate services into 1 overall service..." — a "one-stop shop" that has a single intake process.

The positive impact of the creation of the unified Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services branch within the department and the four community hubs is underscored by the auditors' analysis to support these findings, including: reducing clients' trauma of disclosing difficult experiences; increasing access to mental health services due to the hubs having a permanent physical presence in communities; and improving relationships between service providers and communities. The auditors also provided valuable recommendations and suggestions around areas that we could build upon, such as recruitment and retention, culturally responsive services, and performance measurement.

Recruitment and retention of staff for rural and remote communities is a challenge across Canada. This has been exacerbated by the pandemic. While we agree that the recruitment and retention of mental health and substance use staff has been a challenge for the MWSU community hubs, the department has been actively and successfully filling positions on an ongoing basis. We are working with communities on creative solutions to support mental health and substance use services across the Yukon and are developing the recommended recruitment and retention strategy, among other actions outlined in the auditors' findings and in our response.

The auditors' findings also touched on the work that Health and Social Services has done to make our services more culturally responsive. We continue to learn, grow, and improve in this area, and we have taken a number of actions acknowledged by the auditors in the section on culturally responsive services.

The final paragraph of the audit report notes that the creation of the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch is clear evidence of our department's commitment to strengthen and improve our use of data and evaluation. This is a new team that is working closely with MWSU to determine appropriate performance measures and reporting for mental health and substance use services throughout the Yukon. This was a key recommendation of the independent expert panel on the *Putting People First* report and one that we were quick to enact to enable us to improve our evaluation and performance measurement.

I would like to thank the auditors for their work. We appreciate their recommendations and are moving forward and continuing to improve the provision of mental wellness and substance use services to rural Yukoners.

I will have other generalized comments to make, but I can make those as we go through the recommendations, and my colleagues and I look forward to today's conversation.

Chair: Thank you, Mr. Samis. We will now proceed with questions from members of the Committee, and they will proceed randomly, based on our allocation of these questions previously.

To begin, Kate White, Vice-Chair, will ask the first few questions.

Ms. White: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to the witnesses for appearing today. Just for folks listening, the witnesses do have a list of the questions, and I say this ahead of asking the seven that I have in a selection.

The Auditor General found that, as noted in paragraph 21, "...the Department of Health and Social Services conducted research and consultations with various stakeholders to identify and understand the mental health service needs of rural residents. However, some of these consultations took place after the new hub service delivery model was developed. Also, the department could not demonstrate how it integrated feedback into the model's development."

According to the report, the department could not provide records of how the feedback it gathered, while developing the hubs, was integrated into the model's development, which leads to the next questions.

How much consultation had taken place with a broad representation of rural communities? Was any of the feedback integrated into the model's development? How was the feedback integrated? Why was the department unable to provide records to the Auditor General about this?

I will start with those four.

Mr. Samis: As noted by the Auditor General in paragraph 19 of their report, the department engaged and consulted with many stakeholders to identify the mental health service needs of rural residents. From September 2016 to May 2017, members of the mental wellness implementation team visited Yukon communities to meet with First Nation government representatives and service providers. Those invited to participate in each community included the First Nation, municipal council, service providers, and RCMP. The communities visited included Beaver Creek, Burwash Landing,

Carcross, Carmacks, Dawson City, Haines Junction, Mayo, Old Crow, Pelly Crossing, Teslin, and Watson Lake.

The intention was to gain a better understanding of each community's specific mental wellness needs, to learn about existing community initiatives, and to hear local ideas to improve mental wellness. This information was shared with the working groups to be integrated into their planning process and plan activities.

I'm going to ask, as a follow-up to that, Sonya Parsons, who is our current director of Human Resources but was, prior to that, one of leads on the development of the mental wellness strategy, to continue.

Ms. Parsons: So, some of the overall themes that emerged include: a strong interest in land-based healing and cultural camps; the need for services for youth, including training, cultural activities, and mentorship; and the need for support workers. Communities also indicated that they had a need for training for community members.

The feedback was integrated into the models for development as the strategy evolved after each consultation. Feedback was brought back for consideration and then integrated into the pillars or activities for the First Nations partnership committee to approve. Some of this was informal as it shaped how the mental wellness strategy was written.

Feedback was integrated through various ways, one of which was changes for consideration through the First Nations partnership committee, and they changed as we went along. HSS provided records to the Auditor General on the feedback gathered from the community engagements. Health and Social Services also provided a lot of ongoing communications with First Nations and other participants, such as e-mails as well as some meeting minutes. The auditors wanted to see minutes for the engagement sessions or for the meetings, and we did not have meeting minutes for each one of the meetings.

Ms. White: Just to follow up on one of those responses, why did the department not have minutes collected from those meetings?

Ms. Parsons: The meetings were generalized and oftentimes informal. They were done through think sessions with big mapping on walls, et cetera, and they weren't minute by minute for those particular meetings. It depended on how the community wanted to proceed with the meetings.

Ms. White: Sure. I will come back to that later on.

Has the department developed better record-keeping as a result of this gap that has been identified? Can you provide specific improvements that have been made? How will the department consult with stakeholders and integrate feedback on a go-forward basis?

Mr. Grandy: So, yes, going forward, we have developed better record-keeping, particularly on the hubs. The hubs originally were an integration of three different service provisions with three different record-keeping processes. Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services, including the hubs, has implemented a new electronic medical records system, which allows us to keep much more timely and accurate documents and information that we can then use and implement changes based on them, quite quickly.

We now have a consistent form throughout all of our mental wellness and substance use services. This allows us — and we'll talk later — to develop more uniform client feedback information and to bring information to communities from our electronic medical records to bring back the program changes. Another way of sort of supporting how we document information that we're getting from the communities, as well as meetings with the communities, is that part of the hub system was a dedicated manager to the community hubs, whereas prior, there would have been three different managers from three different services that were integrated; so there's one portfolio within that hub community model.

Ms. White: Just to follow up on that, is that one manager per community hub, or is that one manager for all community hubs?

Mr. Grandy: One manager for the community program.

Ms. White: The Auditor General recommends that the department — and I'm quoting: "... regularly consult with a broad representation of residents of rural communities to identify and implement adjustments and improvements so that the department provides the mental health services that are most needed."

The department's response, in paragraph 38, includes a commitment to — and I quote again: "... quarterly client satisfaction surveys..."

What is the timeline for the delivery of these client satisfaction surveys, and how will that information shape services provided at the hubs into the future?

Mr. Samis: We agree with the statements made by the auditors in paragraph 26, that: "Consulting with partners and stakeholders makes it more likely that their concerns will be considered in the design and delivery of mental health services. It also helps to build trust and increase the likelihood that rural Yukoners are comfortable..." with the services provided.

We are actively engaged in this approach to understand the needs of rural Yukoners so that we can provide the services they need, as noted in paragraph 28. I will turn to Mr. Grandy to provide a little more information on how we're doing that, as well as to answer the specific questions around the client satisfaction surveys.

Mr. Grandy: So, MWSU has recurring meetings with First Nation governments. We regularly attend CYFN Health and Social Development Commission meetings with health and social services directors from all First Nations. We frequently participate in discussions related to the administrative justice agreements with First Nations and directly involve First Nation partners in new hiring staff.

In terms of the question specifically to quarterly client satisfaction surveys, we are going to be implementing that in September 2021. We have created what we are calling a "community hub performance measurement plan". Part of that is quarterly surveys that will go out every three months for one week to clients who, of course, choose to engage and who can engage safely with their service providers to give us that feedback. That will be implemented on an ongoing basis starting in September.

Chair: All right. Before moving on, are there any follow-up questions to those?

If not, go ahead, Ms. McLean.

Hon. Ms. McLean: Thank you to the officials for coming today to provide answers to the questions of our Committee. I will start with this.

The department released Forward Together — Yukon Mental Wellness Strategy — 2016-2026 in the spring of 2016. Paragraph 34 of the Auditor General's report cites that "... under the strategy, a community advisory committee was planned to ensure broad representation in working groups. The committee was also to ensure that initiatives included rural and remote issues and First Nations cultural perspectives. However, this committee did not become operational."

We were told that terms of reference had been created, but the committee never got off the ground. The first part of the questions is: Why not? And then, further to that, is: What lessons has the department learned from this experience?

Ms. Parsons: The First Nations partnership committee was established as part of the mental wellness strategy under the development of that strategy and it was operational for two years. The first priority of the committee was the development of the Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services branch. Due to the high level of turnover in First Nation representation, there wasn't consistent participation in the First Nations partnership committee, and once MWSU was established, interest in the committee waned. Health and Social Services provided a one-year term policy resource to the First Nations partnership committee and helped support First Nation participation during the first year of that committee.

I think I would like to go to Cameron to answer this.

Mr. Grandy: Mr. Chair, in terms of lessons learned, we have worked with our partners at CYFN and created the terms of reference for the Mental Wellness and Substance Use Advisory Committee, which will be active going forward. This is a committee that will include community members, both First Nation and non-First Nation, as well as CYFN and Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services with at least one person with lived experience as part of that committee. It was scheduled to launch in the spring of 2021 after the terms of reference were agreed upon; however, the current wave of the pandemic hit the Yukon and that was put aside until it was more safe and timely to meet.

The committee is largely based on input from CYFN as well as First Nations, and our intent is to reignite this group in September. MWSU also has a new — which we will get to later — not new now, but I suppose it was new at the time of the audit — but a cultural counselling coordinator, who will also be part of this committee.

Ms. White: When the term "interest waned" was used, did the department ever go back and find out what happened for interest to wane? Did we go back and figure out why the participation number dropped or why things stopped, or was the assumption just made that there was no longer interest in the issue?

Ms. Parsons: Yes, so first, when the committee was struck, we involved CYFN, Kwanlin Dün First Nation, and the

department — both the health portion of our department and the social services portion of our department. The interest was there to integrate these services, and then, as the services became integrated, we spent a lot of time as a First Nations partnership committee discussing how to keep the movement and the momentum alive. Underneath the First Nations partnership committee, we had subsections of committees; we had three working groups. One of those working groups was around community involvement. It was very difficult because of capacity within First Nations in the community to devote time to those committees, and they suggested that it was because there was already an integrated working group within the community itself, so we tried to link into those committees. So, we did some work back and forth and we added other First Nations to our First Nations partnership committee, and it became more and more difficult because of time constraints for everybody involved. Then we started looking at a new way, because we were now a mental wellness and services hub, and that is where Mr. Grandy explains how we move forward with a new kind of approach with everybody on board.

Ms. White: Sorry, just to follow up — when we talk about the working groups, and especially with the community involvement — you reference both the CYFN and Kwanlin Dün First Nation, but both central offices focus on the City of Whitehorse, whereas we are talking about community wellness hubs in communities. Were those involved in the — you referred to it as "community involvement". Were those folks volunteers, or was there an honorarium, or were they employees of a First Nation?

Ms. Parsons: They were employees of the First Nation. We did provide travel, if there was a need for travel. We also expanded out beyond Kwanlin Dün First Nation and the Council of Yukon First Nations to include Champagne and Aishihik First Nations and Selkirk First Nation as well. That was done through an ask, through all First Nations, of who would like to participate.

Mr. Kent: Like my colleagues, I would like to thank the officials for their appearance here today before the Public Accounts Committee, as well as thank you for your role and the efforts in keeping Yukoners safe during the COVID pandemic. I know that it is much appreciated.

The few questions that I have deal with the delivery of the mental health services. The first one that I wanted to ask is about the location of the hubs. In 2018, the department opened these mental wellness and substance use clinics called "hubs" in Watson Lake, Haines Junction, Carmacks, and Dawson City. The service areas for these hubs are illustrated on page 3, exhibit 1 of the Auditor General's report. I am curious: What were the criteria used to choose which communities would host the hubs, and how were the service areas chosen for each hub?

Mr. Grandy: Thank you for your question, Mr. Kent.

So, the location and service areas of the hubs — they emerged from engagement around the development of the mental wellness strategy. They were based largely on need, which can be connected to population — location, in partnership with resources that previously existed in the community. That may include housing, office space

availability, but the hub model largely is a hub-and-spoke model. With the layout of the Yukon, the hubs did allow us to put perhaps a larger team in one area that could then travel quickly to other areas. So, for example, in the Carmacks hub, we are able to have a group of individuals there who can travel to Ross River and to Pelly. Through the Dawson hub, we can cover Old Crow and Mayo.

There was that piece to it as well, making sure that we could take those services and provide them. As well, there are not only employees in the hubs; there are employees in most of the Yukon First Nation communities. It allows, with that hub model, those who work in the same communities to link back to a team of support. So, there was that consideration as well as to how we would have teams.

There were other criteria. For example, Teslin, given its location, was originally thought of to be serviced out of Whitehorse. However, Teslin felt that they would be more supported through the Watson Lake hub in terms of that rural component to it. Those were considerations as well.

Mr. Kent: Just a quick follow-up based on that last comment. Which communities — are there communities being served out of Whitehorse, like Carcross/Tagish, maybe Johnson's Crossing? Are those communities that are served out of Whitehorse, or are they just being serviced out of these rural hubs?

Mr. Grandy: That has changed based on need. There are some specialties within the hubs. For example, we may have a clinical counsellor who specializes in child and youth treatment. Somewhere like Carcross may have a need that has changed and they might get serviced from one specialty out of Whitehorse or another out of another hub. The original design has been flexed based on the needs of the community in terms of where they might get served from.

Mr. Kent: So, paragraph 54 of the report notes that hub users' views of services were mixed. Some users informed the auditors — and I'll quote: "... that although services were more accessible than they were before the hubs were set up, some smaller communities where hubs did not exist still lacked easy access to services."

So, a couple of questions from that — what is being done to address the availability of access for smaller communities where hubs are not located? Are there any plans to expand the hubs to other communities? Is there a service review scheduled at some time in the near future to look at the possible expansion to other communities?

Mr. Grandy: The department is working with communities to find creative ways to provide mental wellness and substance use services that meet community needs, particularly in communities that may have had difficulty finding permanent employees or are more difficult to serve as geographic locations.

I would like to give an example, if it's all right, in response to that question. We have had challenges in Old Crow, and we have worked closely with the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation, with their health director at the time, the current MLA for Vuntut Gwitchin, in developing a model that seems to be proving quite successful where we have struggled to have

somebody stay in the community for long periods of time, but we want consistent coverage for the community, given that it's a counselling profession, and we don't want different people each time. So, we were able to hire somebody who works out of Whitehorse but who goes to the community every other week, and then there's another individual from the Dawson City hub, too — one who performs counselling duties and one who performs what we call "clinical counselling" duties who will go in on those other weeks. So, we have similar people coming who are able to provide more fulsome coverage.

Those unique things are happening in different communities to try to make sure that we fill those. We have done the same thing with having somebody who was part of the Carmacks hub but chose to live in Ross River to provide services in that way.

We are coordinating with First Nation governments for inperson visits and for travelling there to make sure that, if we don't have somebody there permanently or full time, we can bring that support in from other hubs or from Whitehorse. We're working with First Nation health and social directors across the territory to establish regular schedules. This also includes meeting regularly, quarterly, with First Nation directors and First Nation partners so that we are very clear on what the needs are, what our supports can be, in addition to the supports that are there.

I will say that the current pandemic has probably changed how a lot of us have viewed virtual service delivery from a therapeutic perspective and a medical health perspective, as well, and so we are actively working with our First Nation partners on what virtual options can be delivered and will be maintained beyond the pandemic and the current restrictions.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: I want to thank the officials for showing up this afternoon. I know how incredibly busy you have been over the last 16 months and especially in the last eight weeks or so; so I know how much work it takes to prepare for a hearing such as this, and I really do appreciate your efforts on behalf of the Yukon people.

I have a couple of questions this afternoon, all of which, at this point in the hearing, relate to services offered by hubs. The hub service delivery model was developed prior to the release of the mental wellness strategy in 2016.

My first question is: What are the reasons for it taking more than two years to be implemented?

Mr. Grandy: Okay, first — well, I guess first; it's the only question so far. Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services — it was created and integrated three distinct services. It integrated what were called "child and youth treatment services", "mental health services", and "alcohol and drug services". There was a lot involved administratively in changing those services as well as from a therapeutic framework and a delivery model. They were services that had different approaches to mental wellness. Those approaches were also informed by the meetings with our First Nation partners.

The work to move from the conceptual model envisioned in the mental wellness strategy took years due to the

complexities involved in combining, as I said, the previous groups and really developing a new, modern approach.

The audit report clearly states in paragraph 51 that the integration of these three services made services more accessible and more efficient in allowing clients to go through a single intake process, explaining their situations once. As I'm saying that, I wonder if I'm answering your next question, so I'm going to wait.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: That does lead into my follow-up question. What other strategies in this document are designed to help rural Yukoners in need of mental health services?

Mr. Grandy: A working group focused on community supports has been established under the mental wellness strategy. It has, as we've talked, been difficult to secure ongoing community involvement. I'm just re-reading the question.

I think I would like to come back to the specifics of the strategies in that document that are designed to help rural Yukoners in the need of mental health services, just to make sure I give you the right information from the document.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: All right. Thank you, Mr. Chair. The services offered by each hub are listed in paragraph 10 of the Auditor General's report. Has that list changed since the Office of the Auditor General initially contacted the department?

Mr. Grandy: The list of services offered by each hub is essentially the same as the list provided in the Auditor General's report, and they include that we provide assessments and intakes to determine the level of service required with MWSU — the level of service that requires the appropriate intervention for the appropriate individual. We provide individual and group counselling; we do referrals to specialists. This includes psychiatry, intensive treatment services, live-in treatment services, and other case management services. We do community education; we do prevention work — the provision of harm reduction services and supplies. We provide outreach for those individuals who require a more robust and consistent service with everyday living and managing their wellness; coordination of pre- and post-care for individuals to access the programming in Whitehorse or out-of-territory; coordination and consultation with local First Nations and governments.

So, largely, that list is still the same. We probably have tweaked some of the psychotherapeutic interventions or the psychological frameworks that we provide.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: I'm going to turn to Many Rivers Counselling, which operated as an NGO for a number of years and delivered mental health services to rural Yukon. Are we at the same level of services that were offered by Many Rivers Counselling, or have we exceeded that service delivery?

Ms. Ali: Health and Social Services is now providing a higher level of mental health services to rural Yukoners than was previously offered by Many Rivers Counselling. Mental Wellness and Substance Use offers a broad range of services with better integration across communities and Whitehorse and more consistent treatment modalities and types of support across communities — so, not just counselling but also psychiatric services and access to other mental health services.

The auditors recognize the higher level of service in several places in the report, including paragraph 52, which states that: "... creating the 4 hubs increased access to mental health services through their permanent physical presence in these communities."

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: Thank you for that answer. Are there any planned service expansions or improvements for the mental wellness and substance use hubs?

Ms. Ali: Since the time frame of the performance audit, we have made a number of adjustments to mental wellness substance use hubs. This has included: rapid access counselling; expanded psychiatric services across Yukon; increased and added psychoeducational group therapy programs; regular review of the psychosocial therapeutic framework so that it is based on current best practices and evidence and is consistent across jurisdictions and that is contemporary; expanded access to opioid agonist treatment; strengthened our harm reduction services and education in communities; and expanded use of virtual supports.

We have brought in intra- and interdepartmental collaboration as part of *Putting People First*, and we have significantly increased our cultural programming and supports.

Mental Wellness and Substance Use is a learning organization, and we are building on the partnerships with Yukon First Nations and also receiving input from clients and information from our electronic medical records to inform quality improvement in our programs and services.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: So, then, what I am hearing is that this isn't a static process, that once you have established these hubs, you are looking at the services that communities need and then building and refining them to better reflect what the community need is, as we go forward.

Ms. Ali: That is correct, Mr. Chair. We are continuing to work with communities and adjust as we go. No community is stagnant. Communities change over time and needs change. We are listening to communities in terms of what their concerns are, what their needs are, and adjusting our model as things evolve.

Ms. White: When you refer to "rapid access", what is the average wait time from when a person contacts a hub to when they are first able to access the services?

Mr. Grandy: It is within 72 hours that you would get an appointment. For communities, the average wait time for rapid access counselling is generally lower, but we make sure that the "rapid" means that you get an appointment within three days of requesting.

Ms. White: Just to follow up, is that in all communities, including, for example, Old Crow?

Mr. Grandy: It is in all communities. Again, "rapid access" right now does not necessarily mean in person; rapid access counselling can be delivered virtually. Old Crow does have coverage in the community at the moment, so it would.

Ms. White: That is excellent news. When we talk about "virtual", are we looking at setting up designated spaces in communities that don't have the physical presence of counsellors?

Mr. Grandy: We have. I'm not going to say in every community. It has been community specific at this point. But we have provided individuals with options for finding a phone or perhaps a place where they can use a computer with a camera.

Chair: The next questions will come from me. Regarding the impact of COVID-19, in the report, the Auditor General notes that the Government of Yukon's response to the pandemic is expected to have an impact on Yukoners' mental health, so there are two questions pursuant to that. The first is: Has the department done any work to quantify or determine what the impact has been on Yukoners' mental health as a result of the Government of Yukon's response to it?

Mr. Samis: The COVID response unit, the chief medical officer of health, and the Executive Council Office have worked together and have conducted the Canadian Index of Wellbeing survey in August 2020. The survey was adapted to include questions related to the pandemic and the impacts of public health measures on the health and wellness of Yukoners.

Preliminary results were shared with community representatives during recurring COVID community calls, but final results of that survey have not been publicly released yet.

HSS, as we've gone through the pandemic, has also undertaken an analysis of health service utilization during the pandemic, which included use related to mental health issues. Analysis of those results is still underway. We anticipate that we will be able to release preliminary information related to this utilization in the fall — late fall of this year — noting that we are still very much in our current COVID-19 wave and still very much analyzing the utilization data as we work our way through this.

Chair: Has there been any analysis about these expected impacts? Has this been incorporated into decisions and recommendations with respect to the pandemic? How so?

Mr. Samis: Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services has focused on operational service delivery and supporting the needs of communities during the pandemic. Working with First Nation partners, we've provided additional in-person services to communities for specific events and circumstances, including those related to the pandemic and that have required increased mental health and substance use support. We've strengthened collaboration with other health service providers to support whole-person care, and we've paid close attention to Mental Wellness and Substance Use Service utilization during the past 18 months and adjusted to meet client needs.

This responsiveness to client needs is noted, actually, in paragraph 55 of the report where it states: "... the department and other agencies worked together to maintain access to mental health services while managing the many effects of the pandemic in rural communities. They identified new mental health service needs created by the pandemic, such as the emotional impact of imposed isolation. Also, they developed solutions for the identified needs."

Communities decided to deem mental wellness and substance use staff as essential service providers during the pandemic, and so clients have been able to continue receiving services in-person, or virtually, throughout the pandemic. This underscores the importance of mental health and substance use services in communities and the progress that has been made by the team in MWSU in strengthening relationships while meeting community needs.

Chair: Is there any follow-up from Committee members?

With that, Ms. White.

Ms. White: Thank you, Mr. Chair. This directly relates to staff vacancies, something I have asked a lot about over the years. There have been difficulties with the tracking and retaining of staff for providing mental health services in rural communities since the hubs opened in 2018. For example, the report notes that the original plan was to have 33 resident staff members in the communities, but as of August last year, they only had 26. How many resident staff members are currently in the communities, and what is the breakdown by community? Has there ever been 33 resident staff members at one time?

Mr. Grandy: I can answer that. As of August 6, 2021, MWSU staff, including the Old Crow dedicated position — we have 25, soon to be 26, with one who is not quite onboarded yet, and they are dedicated to the communities. In addition, we have two supervisors and an MWSU community manager. One supervisor is just a new hire.

The specific breakdown by community is: In Watson Lake, we have five staff; in Teslin, we have one staff, with one who visits biweekly; in Carcross, we have three staff, where we have two clinical staff who visit biweekly; in Haines Junction, we have four staff, and those individuals do cover Burwash Landing, Beaver Creek, and Destruction Bay; in Carmacks, we have two staff, and they cover Pelly Crossing and Faro; we do have a staff in Ross River, however, the Carmacks hub will also cover Ross River with other specialty services; in Mayo, we have one staff and we have a specialty service visit biweekly; in Dawson City, we have eight; in Old Crow, we have one dedicated staff who serves from Whitehorse; and then we have — and this is, again, due to the housing situation as well as retention in Old Crow — one hire being finalized, and we have two staff who visit itinerantly from Dawson City.

Ms. White: Just to follow up to that, would the numbers that were just listed — are any of those numbers that were referenced overlapping? Do they serve more than one community, or are they individual, so that each is one human, as opposed to one number or two numbers representing one human?

Mr. Grandy: I'm sorry. I'm not sure that I understood the question. If I say that there is "one staff in Teslin and one visits biweekly", that one staff in Teslin is the count; that is part of the 25. The one who visits biweekly would come from Watson Lake. It's the 25 — soon to be 26 — that is the full staff contingent.

Does that answer it?

Ms. White: It was a poorly executed question, but you did very well.

So, paragraph 58 of the Auditor General's report notes — and I quote: "... vacancies in human resources put pressure on existing staff and have a negative impact on the level of service

the hubs are able to provide." Has the department collected any data or feedback on staff wellness? I might include in that anything like exit interviews when people leave.

Mr. Grandy: I can't speak to exit interviews here today; I haven't been given one. I didn't actually gather that, and if it is something that needs to be followed up with, I certainly can. The short answer is that nobody has given an exit interview to me.

As part of our community performance measurement plan, which I had referenced earlier — and that is part of our survey that is put out to clients — we are also going to be including an annual staff survey.

We are currently exploring options for development of this survey, including development of an internal survey or use of an existing survey for monitoring the wellness of staff. MWSU participates in Health and Social Services engagement surveys undertaken by the Public Service Commission, and we do review the survey results each time they are released.

The community performance measurement plan also includes monitoring of staff turnover through HR. Specifics of this monitoring have yet to be developed.

MWSU staff have regular opportunities to talk with their supervisors. I think that it is important to note here that the supervisors who provide direct supervision to the hubs are called "clinical supervisors", and by nature of counselling or therapeutic service delivery, discussion of one's own wellness, one's risks for burnout, and one's struggles with maintaining boundaries or dealing with what can be very challenging circumstances are a part of supervision in order to grow within the profession.

That can be collected through PPPs; it can be collected through clinical supervision contracts, but I think it's important to note there that some of that should exist within the clinical supervision framework now that we have two clinical supervisors.

Ms. White: Just a follow-up to that, when we say that it "should" be included, is it included?

Mr. Grandy: Now that we have two clinical supervisors, the hub has a full leadership team. The hub has a full leadership team with a manager and two supervisors.

Ms. White: I thank the witness for that answer, but it is important, on a go-forward basis, that it be included.

Is there any community hub that struggles to maintain staff more than the others, and does the department have an understanding of why that is?

Ms. Ali: With small rural and remote communities — such as Old Crow, Ross River, and Pelly Crossing — we certainly see more challenges for both recruitment and retention of staff. Limited housing and limited office space contribute to these challenges. Mental Wellness and Substance Use is working very closely with Yukon First Nation partners in the hiring process for new community staff, and this is helping us to support the optimal community fit and to increase the retention.

As well, we continue to work with Yukon Housing Corporation with regard to housing accessibility within communities.

Ms. White: What is the status of the development of the department's recruitment and retention strategy for mental health service providers? The department mentions using innovative approaches to recruit for these positions. Can you give us some examples of that innovation? How many people have been recruited and retained since implementation of this strategy began in the fall of 2020?

Ms. Parsons: Approximately 10 people, soon to be 11, have been recruited and retained since the fall of 2020. Mental Wellness and Substance Use continues to work with HSS HR to develop unique retention strategies, one of which is a boutique recruitment website that we are currently working on with the Public Service Commission. It encompasses all of Health and Social Services' difficult-to-fill positions, especially in the year of the pandemic and the need for clinical service providers. We're looking at a way to recruit to the Yukon by telling the story of the Yukon, and that means telling the story of each individual community and working with those communities to tell their story so that people understand where it is that they could go to live and what those jobs actually encompass and what it means to work in rural Yukon.

We work closely with our First Nation government partners on collaboration and consultation during the recruitment process. This means that a First Nation health director could sit on and be involved in the interview process to onboard into the community so that people who are working in those communities understand the needs of that community and become a community member.

Chair: If it's all right, I will slip in with a quick followup. In your response to us, dated August 13 — just recently the document referenced that this work is supported by the hiring of a human resources consultant who will focus on this area of work. It's a quote from page 2 of the August 13 letter. Can you explain what the human resources consultant does and how that works, how that contract was let, and the activities that they undertake?

Ms. Parsons: So, we've recently hired a human resource strategist who will begin work on a retention strategy. That person will work with Yukon First Nations, the Hospital Corporation, and Yukon University and will work to develop how we can start bringing individuals into the Yukon as a whole instead of everybody trying to do it individually so that we can reach a broader audience. They will work on that strategy and we will do an implementation plan for that.

Chair: So, just to be clear, that person is a full-time employee of the Yukon government?

Ms. Parsons: Correct.

Chair: Thank you, Ms. Parsons.

Ms. White: Just to follow up from previously, congratulations are in order for the 11 folks who have been recruited since fall 2020. But that begs the question — out of the 26, and then the two supervisors, that is pretty new. It's nearly half of the folks who are included. Is there any concern about the continuity or the support within those communities with having 11 people in less than a year being put into those hubs?

Mr. Grandy: Concern in it — yes, we continue, as was noted — we're putting effort in trying to make sure that our recruitment and retention works. We have been flexible enough to react to some of these concerns by — with the hub model — being able to provide other staff who are within the same huband-spoke component. Certainly, it is our goal to continue to try to recruit the right person, the right skill level, and maintain them as much as possible in the fabric of the community.

Ms. White: I thank the witness for that answer. I don't mean to be pointed. I'm passionately supportive of the work that you all do. The community wellness hubs are really important, and I want them to be successful; so, when I ask the question, it's just trying to understand better. I do appreciate the answers.

When I veer off the questions that I've handed out, it's mostly just trying to get a better understanding. But I think the answer from the witness really flows beautifully into my next question, which is: Has the department looked at different community nursing models across the north that have been successful in other jurisdictions? Have you ever considered a system of recruitment that would allow for mental health professionals to maintain residences outside their work community while serving the communities on a rotational basis — for example, such as six weeks on and six weeks off?

Mr. Grandy: The vast majority of employees who are working in the hubs are either counsellors or what we call "support workers", and the continuity of service provider is optimal for the provision of that type of service.

In addition, the model that other agencies use, perhaps more successfully, would go against what we have heard from communities and what they want to see, in terms of having continuity within the community, of people who are members of the community.

In consultation with First Nation governments, we have found that out. It would also not be consistent with one of the OAG report's main recommendations, which is to increase and further develop in-depth consultation strategies with our First Nation government partners.

As I exampled with Old Crow, we have tried to be flexible and change sometimes how we go in on a rotation basis; however, it's the same individual going in on a rotation basis. Particularly with the type of therapy we provide and what the First Nation is wanting our support with, that continuity is very important.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: I have a point of context, just for my own edification, please. We're talking about staff vacancy. The initial question was to have 33 staff members in place, as part of the original plan. How many staff did we have prior to 2018, in 2016-17? Do we have that number?

Mr. Grandy: That's a number that we can provide you. I could provide you with what I would consider a pretty close guess at the moment, but that is information we could provide later, if that's okay. Just give me 10 seconds.

Our child and adolescent treatment — it was the amalgamation of three services. Our child and adolescent treatment services were all itinerant. There might have been one at one point in one of the hubs, which wasn't a hub at the time,

but all child and youth treatment services were provided. Either they would travel for three days and come home for a week or travel for three days. Alcohol and Drug Services had a counsellor in Watson Lake and they had two counsellors in Dawson City. Mental health services had a travelling nurse who travelled out of Haines Junction and had travelling clinicians out of Whitehorse, and they had a mental health clinician in Dawson City, I believe. So, about seven — but, again, that's a guess.

Hon. Ms. McLean: I know the question was a little bit earlier, but I just wanted to follow up on the clinical supervisors. You mentioned that you have two full-time clinical supervisors now. Are they government employees full time?

Mr. Grandy: They are. They're MWSU supervisors.

Hon. Ms. McLean: Just following up on that, a couple of things that came to mind — are you still contracting other clinical supervisors at this point?

Mr. Grandy: Currently, no. That doesn't mean we couldn't if a very specific psychological mental wellness or mental health issue occurred and we wanted to get an expert opinion. But currently, we have generalist therapists and we have generalist clinical supervisors.

Hon. Ms. McLean: That's why I was asking. I just wondered if it was sufficient to meet the needs of 26 individuals who are out in the field doing the work. That's a pretty, I think, big case load — for splitting it among the two clinical supervisors. That's why I was just wondering if that's sufficient. Do you think that's sufficient at this time?

Mr. Grandy: I appreciate the question. I think, in terms of our client surveys, that is something that our community performance plan is making sure that we address with our staff—is finding that we currently have the supports necessary to provide the challenging work.

Ms. White: Just a follow-up to the question that Mr. Mostyn asked — and I appreciate that he was asking about the past, but at that same time, when you referenced seven Yukon government employees, were there not employees of Many Rivers, at that point, established in communities?

Mr. Grandy: I am comfortable saying that there were not as many, in terms of therapists, as there are now, and I couldn't tell you, over the course of Many Rivers' time, who and when.

Hon. Ms. McLean: I'll move on to staff housing. I know that there was a bit of a mention of staff housing in the previous set of questions, but I will go a little bit deeper. Paragraph 56 of the report states — and I quote: "From the time the hubs opened in 2018, there were staff vacancies. A lack of available housing was a factor in recruitment and retention challenges."

Is the Department of Health and Social Services working with the Yukon Housing Corporation to identify gaps in rural staff housing needed for hub positions?

Ms. Ali: Yes, Yukon Health and Social Services works closely with Yukon First Nation governments and Yukon Housing Corporation on the development of strategies with regard to staff housing. For example, the current health and wellness project in Old Crow includes staff housing, which will

help to address a lack of housing options in that community. Health and Social Services looks forward to seeing this approach taken by Yukon Housing Corporation in other communities and will be continuing to be engaged in that discussion.

Hon. Ms. McLean: You definitely went into the next part of it, which was: Has a work plan and a timeline been developed to rectify the shortage of available housing for staff in communities?

Ms. Ali: Yes, we are continuing to work on a timeline, and it is community-by-community based. Not every community is the same — so, working with the Yukon Housing Corporation and our First Nation partners on those.

Ms. White: Yukon Housing Corporation has implemented almost a time-out option for staff accommodations as far as Yukon government staff within Yukon Housing Corporation units. Has that been worked around with the Department of Health and Social Services?

Mr. Samis: We have certainly worked with the new model that has been put in place by the Yukon Housing Corporation. I can come back to you with some information about how that has impacted particular staff. I don't really have that with me at this time, but we also know that there have also been some provisions within that policy that enable people to stay in the housing beyond the specified period of time, particularly if they are a key and rare service provider or in a difficult-to-recruit position in the community.

Hon. Ms. McLean: We'll move on to administrative support. In paragraph 66, the auditors note: "Mental health service providers that we interviewed felt that there was a lack of administrative support in the hubs."

What is the department doing to address this identified issue?

Mr. Grandy: Since the audit time frame, Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services has dedicated an admin to the community hub positions. Also, having the manager and the one supervisor, now a second supervisor, it's going to be a support to that — and also implementing the new electronic medical record. During parts of this audit, that medical record was in implementation. Now that is quite solid within the MWSU framework and has been a great help to clearing up some of the administrative issues that the hub staff have felt.

Hon. Ms. McLean: In terms of the next section, it's physical space. The Office of the Auditor General found that mental health service providers "... felt that the physical space in the hubs was not always conducive to providing confidential services." This is found in paragraph 66.

Has the department done an audit on the effectiveness of the physical hub spaces?

Ms. Ali: Health and Social Services is working closely with the Department of Highways and Public Works to ensure that essential space needs are addressed. Mental Wellness and Substance Use has partnered with Community Nursing and First Nation governments to identify appropriate physical spaces for mental wellness and substance use services in communities. This is a very community-specific issue, as each community has its own set of resources and facilities and also

its own unique needs; however, all communities share the challenge of limited space, especially office space availability.

The new health and wellness centre currently under construction in Old Crow, as I mentioned before, is based on an interprofessional model located within a building that will provide a scalable template for other communities. We believe that this approach will help to improve services to Yukoners and address the physical space issue.

Hon. Ms. McLean: Moving on to cultural responsiveness — and I know that there was some mention in previous answers, but we'll go again a little bit deeper — the Auditor General is recommending that the Department of Health and Social Services develop and implement a plan to work with First Nations to improve cultural safety and service delivery.

Paragraph 78 of the report says that the department "... had intended to develop a quality improvement plan to include ways to enhance culturally responsive services, but this plan was not developed."

What happened? Why wasn't a plan both developed and implemented?

Mr. Samis: Thank you for the question. Mental Wellness and Substance Use has worked closely with First Nation partners to guide our service offerings and integrate more fully into the culture of each community. We regularly work with the Health and Social Development Commission, for example, and consult with them regularly on how we can provide better and more culturally appropriate services. We're deeply committed to improving in this regard.

As noted by the auditors in paragraph 79, Mental Wellness and Substance Use hired a cultural counselling coordinator in February 2020 really to help support culturally responsive services. We would be prepared to speak about further improvements that we're making to all staff, including MWSU staff, on culturally relevant services, cultural humility, cultural safety.

Hon. Ms. McLean: You've just mentioned paragraph 79. In this paragraph, it notes that the auditors found that only about 60 percent of service providers had taken a required course intended to develop their understanding of and appreciation for Yukon First Nation history. Why was there this oversight? Has a plan been developed to address this gap?

Ms. Parsons: Courses on Yukon First Nation culture and history continue to be required by mental wellness and substance use service providers, and it's a priority for new hires to take this as a required course at the first available opportunity, as well as for existing staff if they have not already completed it. We're working with the Public Service Commission on how to have more frequent offers of this course. Currently, it's a requirement by many Yukon government employees, and there are only a few people who can deliver the training. It's really working with them to have more offerings so that we can offer more to more staff.

We are also working with the Public Service Commission and San'yas Indigenous Cultural Safety Training Program, which is a BC-based organization. They are helping us develop a Yukon-specific cultural training program and to identify the best way to roll it out across all government — for everybody in the Yukon who provides health and social services to Yukoners. The cultural safety program is referenced in the Auditor General's report in paragraph 79.

In some of our communities, our First Nation partners have indicated how they prefer MWSU staff to learn and develop their understanding of each First Nation's culture. This includes on-the-land activities and cultural events in the community or communities in which they are based. Mental Wellness and Substance Use staff are fully supported to attend these activities, as requested by the First Nation partners.

In paragraph 77, the Auditor states — and I quote: "This was one way to develop more trusting relationships with people in the communities."

Hon. Ms. McLean: Again, staying on paragraph 79, the report states that in February 2020 — and I quote: "... the department created and filled a position for a cultural counselling coordinator to offer resources and training to providers." What is the current status of this work, and what are the timelines for rollout and training?

Mr. Grandy: The cultural counselling coordinator was hired in February 2020 and has been working to support changes in all areas of MWSU, including our mental wellness hubs, to increase cultural responsiveness of services and cultural accessibility. The cultural counselling coordinator currently is providing training to staff on reconciliation, supports cultural awareness for MWSU staff, advises on some changes to our processes that could be from intake processes — from questions that we ask and the way we ask them — to improve the cultural accessibility for Yukon First Nation members to areas of MWSU in our programs.

Our cultural counselling coordinator is also preparing educational materials and information to inform MWSU on topics such as reconciliation. Actually, the actions that they have done and some of the materials that they have implemented have now been shared across the government. They were picked up in other branches of one of them as well.

So, the coordinator is now beginning to travel to Yukon communities and to focus on connections with Yukon communities. That is happening immediately.

I will definitely say that the community travel piece was delayed a couple of times throughout — I might not have to finish that sentence.

Mr. Kent: I have a couple of questions with respect to the measuring and reporting on the performance. The Auditor General is recommending that the Department of Health and Social Services measure and report on the performance of its mental health services in rural Yukon. Paragraph 83 says that the auditors "... found that the Department of Health and Social Services did not have a clear picture of how effective the delivery of mental health services was in rural Yukon. It did not adequately monitor the performance of these services and had not identified the performance indicators it would use to monitor and measure services on an ongoing basis. As a result, the department could not know whether the mental health services were meeting Yukoners' needs."

What has been done since the report was issued to improve the data collection, and have performance indicators been created at this time?

Mr. Samis: Thank you for the question. As we have heard, we have instituted now, or are instituting, quarterly client surveys and are also working much harder to obtain real information from those we serve, from the staff who are serving them, as well as those with lived experience to really inform our performance measurement framework, our evaluation, and our quality performance.

We have implemented this new electronic medical record, which you have heard about, since the time frame of the OAG report, and this will greatly improve not only our access to data but also our ability to use that data to analyze it and to adjust our service model based on that data that we have.

In addition to what the Mental Wellness and Substance Use branch itself has done to improve its performance and quality in performance and evaluation, we did establish the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch within the department. It is now operational. It has been staffed by bringing together analytical supports, like epidemiologists and analysts and others from different parts of the department together into one analytical unit, which is working to identify all of the data sources within the department where we can, under HIPMA, link data sources to give us a fuller picture of what's going on and develop a performance measurement plan for the department. They are being tasked with developing a performance measurement plan that would include indicators for our performance, which we can report on publicly like many other responsible government departments do in other parts of the country.

So, Mental Wellness and Substance Use is working on the implementation of their work and their plan, and we've established a group from across the department that is working with the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation unit. There is a team of people who are looking at the processes, what kind of data we actually have available to us, and how easily we can get that data. We've hired two people who are leads, working with people with lived experience — those really trying to understand better, from the clients we actually serve, how we're doing and what their needs are going forward. That's within that population and public health unit.

That team that we've brought together — that interdisciplinary team from across the department — is really trying to look at what we need to measure, what's important to people, and then actually what data do we have available to develop a performance measurement plan and the indicators that we'll report on regularly.

Mr. Kent: Mr. Samis answered my next question with respect to the creation of the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch. I was looking for a status update and timelines, but I believe he provided that in his response. I know that my colleague, Mr. Mostyn, is going to be asking about the financial implications of that branch, so I will turn it back to you.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: We're now going to turn our attention to money. What is the overall budget for the mental wellness hubs?

Ms. Ali: The 2021-22 mains budget for the mental wellness substance use hubs is \$3,029,040. This budget marks the first time that mental wellness substance use is reflected as an entity in the mains. Additional funding has been provided outside of the mains with regard to COVID. We have received some COVID funding to address specific needs as a result of the pandemic.

The operating budget is not generally separated by each hub as there are common expenses across the communities. The budget distribution between hubs varies over the year depending on evolving needs, supports required, and opportunities to hire staff, et cetera, for specific locations.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: So, just to follow up then, the cost of operating all hubs — I think you anticipated a breakdown of each hub individually, but the operational cost of running the hubs is combined in that \$3-million figure. Is that correct?

Ms. Ali: Could you repeat the question? Sorry.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: The \$3-million figure you provided at the outset of your answer encompasses the total cost of operating the hubs throughout the territory, and you can't break it down individually because that pot of money is disbursed to the hubs that need it at the times they need it.

Ms. Ali: Correct.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: Thank you very much for that answer. How much of this budget was new money, and how much was absorbed from other areas within the Department of Health and Social Services?

Ms. Ali: The funding for the newly created Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services and the hubs included existing budgets for the alcohol and drug services unit, mental health services, and child abuse treatment services. These were three program areas that were essentially combined, and the funding for those three was combined to create the Mental Wellness and Substance Use branch and hubs.

Additional resources from within Health and Social Services have been allocated to Mental Wellness and Substance Use when available, particularly when there are joint initiatives with Mental Wellness and Substance Use and other social services or health services units.

Health and Social Services also accesses funding from other sources, including the federal government. For instance, Yukon received \$230,000 in 2021-22 for improving access to community-based mental wellness/substance use services.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: Thank you for that answer. When was the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch created, and what is the budget for that branch? I'm going to add my supplementary to the question. How many new full-time equivalent positions were hired to support that branch?

Mr. Samis: Thank you for the question. The Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch was created in 2021. We actually recruited the director for that position in October 2020, so it's a relatively new entity within the department. We worked within the department's allocation to

realign resources into one central branch to provide services for the whole department in these key areas. The new branch includes some new positions, as well as existing positions that were moved from elsewhere in the department. The existing positions were moved with FTEs and associated funding from other parts of the department, while there are a few others that have been funded by the territorial health investment fund.

Hon. Mr. Mostyn: What is the estimated cost of implementing the Office of the Auditor General's recommendation in this report?

Mr. Samis: Thank you for the question. The department has already been working on the recommendations from the Office of the Auditor General, and we have been making changes as part of our existing budget. Right now, we don't really see the need for new funding required to continue addressing the recommendations. That is, in part, because we had already sought approval for some of the things that we are trying to do, like the work with San'yas on the cultural humility and safety training, et cetera. So, we think we are going to be able to meet the recommendations of the Auditor General within our existing budget at this time.

Chair: Is there any follow-up on the financials? With that, I will proceed to my final questions.

Looking forward, the last health status report in 2018 was focused on seniors. The next report is required to be tabled this year in the Legislative Assembly. What will the focus of it be?

Mr. Samis: As a department, we support the office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health to develop and release the health status report. The Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation branch is supporting the CMOH in the development of that annual health status report. It is not really our report. It is the office of the CMOH's report, but it is our understanding that this next report is going to sort of take a look back over the last three reports that have come out as well as taking a more forward look at some of the key determinants of health and sort of population health forces and factors that are at work in influencing the health and well-being of Yukoners.

Chair: With the acceptance of all of the recommendations, what do you plan to prioritize, and how do you plan to proceed with implementing these recommendations?

Mr. Samis: The department has prioritized hiring, consultation, community collaboration, ensuring that we are providing culturally responsive and respectful services, and data gathering and evaluation. These recommendations are interlinked and really can be addressed concurrently. We see all of this as part of a quality improvement package.

Chair: What is the planned future of the mental wellness and substance use hubs?

Mr. Samis: The plan is to continue to operate the mental wellness and substance use hubs in collaboration with community and other government partners and to serve the needs of Yukoners with an eye to looking for opportunities for further integration. For us, that means ensuring a better integration between mental wellness services and other kinds of services, such as health services in the communities, really

trying to provide much more interprofessional, interdisciplinary, and whole-person care.

Chair: That concludes the pre-prepared questions that we had submitted to the witnesses prior. I will now entertain questions from Committee members on any matters related to the report that they want to follow up on.

Ms. White: Just to go back to when we were talking about the importance of staff recruitment and retention — just having spent time speaking to HR specialists about the importance around exit interviews, or even 360-degree interviews, to find out what works and what doesn't — I guess I'm urging the department, as you work on expanding and supporting your folks in the field — understanding how important that work is. Again, despite maybe how the questions came off, I am very supportive of what's going on — but just making sure that we understand the realities for those people on the front-line in communities and what works and what doesn't — looking forward to hearing back from everyone who has stuff to come forward, including Yukon Housing Corporation, on that go-forward basis.

Again, thank you so much for the work that you do and the support that you offer communities. I can only see a future that's better going forward. Thank you for your time.

Chair: I don't know if the witnesses want to respond to that.

If not, Mr. Kent.

Mr. Kent: I believe — Mr. Samis, did you have your hand up for a response?

Chair: Mr. Samis, go ahead if you would like to respond.

Mr. Samis: I would just like to say thank you for that. I really appreciate that encouragement, as we continue to go forward. I would say that there are some 360-degree performance evaluation processes underway in the department. We haven't done that as a full department at this time, but we are certainly looking at how we can improve our performance development process, for sure, and that would involve doing more of that.

I couldn't say more — that we would agree with you, in terms of really understanding the unique needs and perspectives of people working in the communities, which is very different from working here in Whitehorse.

Mr. Kent: Some constituents of mine reached out to me about a week or so ago, and that's why this wasn't a formal question. It's something that I was looking for some input on. Obviously, they are Whitehorse-area residents, and they have been told by their school that they need a psychoeducational assessment done for their child and have been told that it's a two- to three-year wait for that to get done.

Obviously, it could be as much as 25 percent of their student's time in school. In this e-mail that they sent me, they go on to say that COVID has truly impacted our children's anxiety, mental health, and sense of normalcy. We're obviously all hopeful that we get back on track.

I guess my question, with respect to the mental wellness hubs in rural communities — is there cooperation or is there work being done by the mental wellness hubs to support the schools in some of the work that they're doing? I can imagine that if it's a two- to three-year wait in Whitehorse for some of these assessments, it's likely even longer in rural Yukon. I'm just curious what role the hubs play with respect to supporting schools in their efforts to get some of this work done.

Mr. Grandy: Thank you for the question. In terms of in the hubs, we have what's called a "child, youth, and family treatment clinical counsellor". They are master's trained therapists and, in each hub, they are located physically, I think, in every school, partly because that's where we need to be, partly because that's where we have space to be as well. We are able to work directly with — in terms of a psychoeducational assessment, I don't want to speak too directly to that. That's not normally something that MWSU performs in terms of that type of assessment. It sounds like — from a registered psychologist. However, we would work closely with school counsellors, with teachers, and with parents in the school within the hubs to provide that wraparound care, whether that's part case management or part the therapeutic intervention and part of a bigger team supporting children and youth within the hubs.

Mr. Kent: Thank you, Mr. Chair. That's all.

Chair: I just have a few concluding questions then, if the Committee will entertain me doing that.

I wanted to turn to a few of the responses with regard to recruiting and retaining staff that appear in the August 13 letter to the Committee from the department. The letter references the establishment of partnerships with Yukon Hospital Corporation and Canadian universities to provide practicum opportunities and support students with placement opportunities in communities. I'm wondering if the witnesses can elaborate somewhat on the placement opportunities that are available in communities and how those work.

Mr. Grandy: As a whole, in the Mental Wellness and Substance Use branch — last year, we created a student placement committee, so we accept students from multiple agencies, through universities or through other ways that students connect with us, and put them in placements under the appropriate proctor or tutor. I don't believe that, at this point — and certainly within the COVID-19 pandemic, we have not put somebody directly in a community through Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services, but through this committee, we have the ability to do so and to start to expose growing therapists and nurses and support workers — therapists and nurses — to community work.

Chair: Thank you. So, just to be clear then, the proctoring opportunities and placement opportunities that are referenced are planned but have been hampered by COVID-19—is that correct?

Mr. Grandy: For the community-based ones. We have been able to have — they were greatly reduced in the past 14 months, even in terms of the abilities that we had within here, and part of that was to be able to provide effective supervision as well as our social distancing and things like that.

Chair: So, to follow up on that, the letter goes on to note that: "Health and Social Services is also working on the development of a website that will focus on recruiting and

retaining talented health care professionals." That website is expected to launch in the spring of next year.

Can witnesses elaborate a bit on that website, and is that something that other jurisdictions do? Are we building off an existing website model, or is this something that we have generated uniquely for the Yukon?

Ms. Parsons: It's not unique to Yukon. We have looked at Nova Scotia, PEI, and some other jurisdictions that do similar things. It will be the first time that we're attempting to do that in the Yukon. We're working with a lot of partners across the territory, including First Nations, the hospital, and the university. We're also working with Tourism and Culture, trying to integrate what already exists within the Yukon and what we can bring together in one spot.

It is not a website; you wouldn't be able to go on to the website and apply for a job directly on that website. It links into the PSC website, so we're not interfering with how you apply on a job, but it talks about jobs more in general. So, what is it like to be a counsellor in rural Yukon? What is it like to be a counsellor in Whitehorse? What's it like to be a nurse? So, it is really personalizing those stories and really talking to individuals to attract the right type of people who want this type of experience in their career.

Mr. Samis: Thank you, Sonya, and thank you, Mr. Chair. Just to add on, this is a build-off as well from something that we did when we opened Whistle Bend Place. We did establish a micro-site for the recruitment of staff from across the country for Whistle Bend Place, and it was really successful, actually. It is a much more engaging way of representing this amazing place than is typically represented through the Public Service Commission website, which tends to be very word heavy and creates a portal for you to put in your CV. This is much more showcasing the beauty of the Yukon, what it is like to live here, what it is like to serve people here, and what an amazing place it is to live and work in. So, it is trying to address some of the challenges that we have had in terms of recruiting, and we think that it is going to be really critical as we come out of the pandemic because we know that there is a shortage of nurses across the country. There is a shortage of physicians in the country — including a shortage of some of the kind of speciality providers that we need in mental wellness and substance use hubs as well.

Ms. White: Just to follow up on some of this, I know that in other jurisdictions, including our own, when we talk about health care professionals, we talk about the recruitment and building of local talent. One would think that the best people who know how to live in rural communities in challenging times, like November, are people who grew up in small communities in times like November, understanding, of course, that you probably wouldn't want to practise in the community you grew up in, but is there an intention from the department to look at both, I guess, fostering, encouraging, and training Yukoners from rural communities to come back to work in Yukon rural communities?

Mr. Samis: Thank you for the question. It is a really important recruitment and retention strategy — to hire people from the communities who want to work in Yukon, even people

in Whitehorse who want to start their careers in Yukon. One of the best ways that we can do that is by encouraging the development of educational programming here in the territory. We do have active and ongoing conversations with Yukon University about what kinds of programs we need, where do we see the need for staff, and what can the university do. So, for example, could the university move from just having an LPN program to having a registered nursing program? Is it possible for the university to partner with another university to bring the training of nurse practitioners into the territory, or are there mental wellness and substance use counsellors and service providers?

Those conversations, I would say, were more robust 14 or 15 months ago than they have been, as we've been diverted by COVID. But we've just been inside the department talking about and just communicating with the university. We really need to reconvene together to look at that recruitment and how the university can develop in ways that really meets the needs of Yukoners.

Chair: Thank you. Just one more from me — a pretty clear recommendation was made to develop and implement a recruitment and retention strategy. In both the department's response to the Auditor General's report and the letter to this committee from earlier this week, that commitment continued. I'm wondering if witnesses can offer a little more clarity around the timing and expected completion of that recommended recruitment and retention strategy.

Ms. Parsons: We do have two ongoing recruitment and retention strategies. One is a recruitment and retention strategy for all health professionals who were partnering with Yukon Hospital Corporation to look at how we recruit and retain people from across Canada or the world into the Yukon to those specialty services. Our new strategy is focused on rural Yukon; it's how to retain and recruit people to rural Yukon. We just hired the person — the HR person — who will be working on that strategy. They are due to start in September — start fully on the project. It's hoped that implementation will happen in the spring.

Chair: Thanks. So, just to be clear then, that's the human resources consultant who was hired for that; their primary activity is to complete this recruitment and retention strategy. Is that correct?

Ms. Parsons: Yes, that's correct.

Chair: Thank you. Unless there are any other follow-up questions from my colleagues, I'll proceed to closing statements.

Seeing none, before I adjourn this hearing, I would like to make a few remarks on behalf of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts

First of all, I would like to thank the witnesses who appeared. I would also like to thank the Office of the Auditor General of Canada for their work on the report. While officials from the Office of the Auditor General were not able to be here with us today due to the COVID-19 pandemic, they have provided the Committee with a written statement that is available on the Committee's webpage. The documents provided by the Department of Health and Social Services are

also available for the public to consult on our webpage, which is www.vebpage, which is www.vebpage.

The Committee's report on this hearing will be tabled in the Legislative Assembly, and we invite those who appeared before the Committee, and other Yukoners, to read the report and communicate to the Committee with their reaction to it.

This afternoon's hearing does not necessarily signal the end of the Committee's consideration of the issues raised in the Auditor General's report on mental health services in rural Yukon. The Committee may follow up with the department on the implementation of the commitments made in response to the recommendations of the Auditor General and of the Committee itself. This could include a follow-up public hearing at some point in the future and further status update reports.

With that, I would like to thank all those who participated in and helped to organize this hearing, including the staff from Hansard and security who have joined us.

Once again, on behalf of the Committee, thank you to the witnesses for appearing and providing us with the information that you have.

With that, we will now adjourn.

The Committee adjourned at 3:16 p.m.

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF CANADA ON THE 2021 REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF CANADA MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES IN RURAL YUKON— DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES

SUBMITTED TO THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

18 August 2021

The Office of the Auditor General of Canada submitted an audit report on Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon to the Yukon Legislative Assembly on 7 June 2021.

The audit looked at whether the Department of Health and Social Services provided Yukoners living in rural areas with mental wellness and substance use services that met their needs. It focused on whether the department met its responsibility for developing and delivering mental health services in the 17 rural communities where services have historically been less accessible than in Whitehorse. The majority of rural communities are populated by First Nations people, and culture is an important factor in how services are delivered.

This audit is important because mental health is a central component of individual, family, and community life and must be supported by services that meet the needs of communities, even during a pandemic situation. Having accessible services in rural communities as part of a permanent local structure makes it easier for people to get the help they need when they need it.

Overall, the department successfully increased access to mental health services in rural communities. The department implemented Mental Wellness and Substance Use hubs in 4 key rural communities. Each of these hubs is also responsible for providing services to the surrounding communities, making mental health services more accessible to rural Yukoners.

The department maintained access to mental health services while adapting to the many effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, services were available by telephone and online, with some limited in-person availability.

Although the department has increased access to mental health services, it has struggled to recruit and retain staff to deliver these services. The department will need to address this challenge to fully realize the potential benefits of providing mental health services in rural Yukon through its hubs.

The department had made some progress in terms of measuring performance, such as gathering data on wait times for counselling services. However, as there was no historical information to compare current data with, it was not possible to determine whether services had improved.

The department has not yet set targets to measure and report on its service delivery efforts. Therefore, at this point, it does not know if the services being provided through its hubs are meeting the needs of Yukoners.

The Department of Health and Social Services has agreed with all the recommendations. The successful implementation of these recommendations, with specific commitments and timelines set out in a comprehensive action plan, will be important to improve the department's ability to provide mental health services to rural Yukoners. Ongoing engagement with stakeholders will be critical for the department to identify adjustments and improvements to provide mental health services that are most needed and culturally safe.

We hope this information will be helpful to the committee in its study of the report.





Department of Health and Social Services PO Box 2703, Whitehorse, Yukon YIA 2C6

August 13, 2021

Currie Dixon, Chair Standing Committee on Public Accounts

Dear Mr. Dixon.

I am pleased to provide you with a status report on the progress the Department of Health and Social Services has made with respect to the recommendations identified in the Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services as requested by the Standing Committee on Public Accounts. Enclosed with this status report you will also find the Action plan the Department has prepared, which outlines some of the key actions that have been undertaken since the Auditor General of Canada's review of rural mental health services in the Yukon.

Community-based mental health services are a priority for Health and Social Services. As a department we were pleased with the overall findings in the report and welcomed the recommendations. As you are aware, the auditors determined that the Department of Health and Social Services successfully increased access to mental health services in rural communities during the timeframe of the audit, from May 5, 2016 to September 1, 2020.

Health and Social Services strives for continuous improvement in the services we provide to all Yukoners. As service providers, particularly in this critical area of providing quality mental health services, we strive to work with communities to respond to the changing needs of those communities, while ensuring we are adhering to best practices to support the health and wellness of all Yukoners.

1) Engaging with First Nations governments

The Department has been actively working with Yukon First Nations governments and communities to ensure that strong relationships are established, and that the needs and desires of communities are reflected in the services available to them. This work includes: active involvement in community cultural and wellness events; supporting communities with the services they identify a need for during periods of community crisis; development of a Community Hub Performance Measurement Plan, which will solicit feedback from community members and staff on programs and services; and ensuring participation of First Nations representatives on the hiring committees for the counsellors who will work in those communities.

2) Recruiting and retaining staff

The department has been actively and successfully filling positions on an ongoing basis. We are working with First Nations and other partners on creative solutions to support mental health and substance use services across the Yukon and are developing the recommended recruitment and retention strategy. This is supported by the hiring of a Human Resources Consultant who will focus on this area of work. The department has also established partnerships with Yukon Hospital Corporation and Canadian universities to provide practicum opportunities and support student placement opportunities in communities. Health and Social Services is also working on the development of a website that will focus on recruiting and retaining talented health care professionals. This website is expected to launch in the spring of 2022.

3) Improving Cultural Safety

Improving the cultural safety of the programs and services offered to Yukoners by Health and Social Services is an important component of ensuring services are effective and meeting the needs of Yukoners. The department has been actively working with Yukon First Nations and external organizations such as the San'yas: Indigenous and Cultural Safety Training Program to develop a Yukon-specific cultural training program. It is also recognized that Yukon First Nations may have specific cultural practices that need to be understood and reflected in the services provided in those communities. As such, we have been working to respond to those individual needs by ensuring staff participate in community based cultural activities.

4) Measuring Performance

Health and Social Services is acutely aware that improving the collection of information and data is key to measuring the performance of programs and services effectively, to ensure the department is meeting the needs of the people it works with. As noted in the Auditor General's report, one of the key responses that will support the work of the department overall is the creation in late 2020 of the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation Branch. This branch will play an integral part in supporting the development and evaluation work undertaken by the department. As noted above, Health and Social Services is also developing a survey for clients and staff, which will be distributed quarterly to seek feedback on their experiences and allow us to adjust accordingly.

As you can see, since September 1, 2020, the department has worked to actively respond to the four recommendations of the Office of the Auditor General. While this status report and the accompanying Action Plan identify specific work to date, the department will need to continue its work with Yukon First Nations and communities to adapt our efforts as time goes on. We are committed to remaining flexible and responsive in the work we do with communities.

Again, we appreciate the opportunity to review this report with the Standing Committee on Public Accounts. We would be pleased to answer any additional questions you may have with respect to the actions Health and Social Services has undertaken in response to the Auditor General's report on mental health services in Yukon communities.

Sincerely,

Stephen Samis

Deputy Minister of Health and Social Services

Office of the Auditor General of Canada Mental Health Services in Rural Communities Performance Audit

Yukon Health and Social Services Action Plan



Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
38. The Department of Health and Social Services should regularly consult with a broad representation of residents and rural communities to identify and implement adjustments and improvements so that the department provides the mental health services that are most	1. Yukon's rural communities each have their unique needs for these services and the Department of Health and Social Services will work in partnership with rural communities to provide the mental health and substance use services they require.	Health and Social Services (HSS) is working with all Yukon First Nations governments on engaging in cultural and wellness events in respective communities.	Ongoing.	This action is ongoing. Some examples of activities to date include: Caribou Days in Old Crow. Culture Camp in Old Crow. Wellness Week in Mayo (First Nation of Na-Cho Nyak Dun) – monthly. Youth Culture Camp in Dawson (Tr'ondëk Hwëchin) – June, yearly.
needed. Agreed		HSS is actively working in partnership with the Liard Aboriginal Women's Society in Watson Lake to provide support during the demolition of the residential school site in Lower Post.	Ongoing.	This work is ongoing. MWSU is also actively working with Liard First Nation to provide support for the pandemic response.
	2. The Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services Branch will continue to seek to adjust and improve its services in rural communities by working with community partners and residents in the following ways: Regularly scheduled meetings with First Nations health directors and other community representatives.	Meetings with First Nations governments are occurring regularly.	Ongoing.	Regular meetings began in winter 2020-2021. COVID-19 and capacity challenges have has made this a challenge in the past year, but it is a mutual goal to meet quarterly.

Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
	3. HSS will continue to seek to adjust and improve services via involving local First Nations health directors in hiring Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services staff for their communities.	Representation (usually health directors) from First Nations governments to be included on hiring panels when hiring into positions on traditional territories.	Ongoing.	Since October 2020, six competitions included First Nation representation on the hiring panel for counsellors.
	4. HSS will continue to seek to adjust and improve services via quarterly client satisfaction surveys.	A Community Hub Performance Measurement Plan has been developed. This will include surveys to capture client and staff experiences.	Fall 2021; quarterly thereafter.	The surveys are being developed and will launch in fall of 2021.
	5. HSS will continue to seek to adjust and improve services via regular meetings with the Council of Yukon First Nations.	Regular in involvement and attendance at the First Nation Health and Social Development Commission.	Quarterly.	Ongoing – meetings take place quarterly.
	6. HSS will continue to seek to adjust and improve participation in trilateral processes with Yukon First Nations and the Government of Canada such as quarterly meetings of the Trilateral Table on Health and the identification of community needs through the Administration of Justice Agreement negotiations.	HSS, Canada, Council of Yukon First Nations (CYFN) and Yukon First Nations governments continue to meet on a quarterly basis.	Quarterly.	Ongoing – HSS works with Canada and Yukon First Nations governments to establish meeting agendas and provide regular program updates.

Completed	In progress/underway	To be started
The state of the s	-)	

Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
68. The Department of Health and Social Services should complete and implement a recruitment and retention strategy for mental health service providers that considers the	Services has put a focus on recruitment and retention. The department has been developing a robust recruitment and retention	The Recruitment and Retention Advisory Council has been struck, with leadership from HSS Human Resources.	Ongoing.	The Terms of Reference for the advisory council are currently being finalized. Due to challenges with the COVID-19 pandemic, the last meeting took place in December 2020; meetings are expected to begin again soon.
unique challenges faced by the rural communities and propose innovative solutions to address these challenges. Agreed		Establish an HSS Retention Working Group.	Ongoing.	New Human Resource Consultant III has been hired and work has started on the recruitment and retention strategy. HSS Retention Working Group has been established, with representation from MWSU, Family and Children's Services and Care and Community.
		Partner with the Yukon Hospital Corporation and multiple Canadian universities to provide practicum social work and nursing students' placement opportunities in regional communities.	Ongoing.	Partnerships have been established with identified organizations, which has already led to successful recruitment post-graduation. HSS will continue to work with our partners to provide placement opportunities as frequently as possible.

Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
	2. Going forward, the department will take innovative approaches to recruit for these hard to fill positions and then to retain the employees, including flexible work arrangements.	Create a boutique website to assist in recruiting and retaining talented health care professionals. The website will provide information about job opportunities and regional communities, including the remuneration package (e.g. Northern Living Allowance, registration fee coverage, locum supports) and other benefits of working in region. Employee spotlights and testimonials will be included in the website.	March 2022.	Currently in the process of hiring a vendor to develop the website. Website expected to be completed by March 2022.
	3. HSS will develop and implement innovative approaches to retain employees, including flexible work arrangements.	Create a Strategic Human Resource Consultant position. This position will be dedicated to creating a recruitment and retention strategy specifically for rural communities.	Fall 2021.	Position was created and hired in July 2021.
82. The Department of Health and Social Services should develop and implement a plan to work with First Nations to improve cultural safety in service delivery on an ongoing basis. Agreed	1. The Department of Health and Social Services sees client centred care as foundational to therapy and to the mental health and substance use services provided. HSS (MWSU branch) will continue to work with each Yukon First Nation to determine the most suitable, culturally relevant training for MWSU staff in their community is whether it is a formal	HSS to work with Yukon First Nations governments on the development of culturally relevant training for staff/service providers.	Ongoing.	 HSS staff continue will be required to participate in courses related to Yukon First Nations culture and history. HSS is actively working with the Public Service Commission and San'yas: Indigenous and Cultural Safety Training Program to develop a Yukon-specific cultural training program. Depending on the needs of individual Yukon First Nations, HSS staff will

•	•		
	Completed	In progress/underway	To be started

Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
	course, land based training, learning from First Nations elders, or other ways specific to each First Nations community.			continue to participate in on-the-land and cultural activities.
	2. HSS will develop and implement a plan over the next two years, in partnership with Yukon First Nations, which describes how cultural safety is addressed in service delivery through Yukon First Nations –directed training for MWSU staff and how MWSU staff use the knowledge and understanding of the local context to increase cultural safety in the delivery of mental health and substance use services.	Active collaboration with Yukon First Nations government partners on crisis response when incidents happen in a community. Create a Mental Wellness and Substance Use Patient Advisory Committee.	Ongoing.	Ongoing – a response is provided based on developing community situations. To date, supports have been provided in several communities including: Carcross; Ross River; Carmacks; Watson Lake; and Mayo. Discussions with CYFN commenced in December 2020; Terms of Reference have been reviewed and approved the Health and Social Development Commission in spring 2021; in spring 2021 CYFN issued a call for
		Active case coordination with First Nations governments' health and wellness staff for complex cases with overlap in services provided by multiple governments.	Ongoing.	This is an ongoing activity that is undertaken on an as-needed basis for complex clients.

Completed	In progress/underway	To be started

Recommendation	Response	Actions	Timeline	Status
94. The Department of Health and Social Services should establish, measure, and report on the performance of its mental health services in rural Yukon. Agreed	1. The Department of Health and Social Services concurs that this is an area in which the department can strengthen and improve on the use of information and data in relation performance of mental health and substance use services in rural Yukon. The Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services is in the first year of using a new electronic medical record, which enables the department to gather data more efficiently and across a greater spectrum than what possible previously. The Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services will work with the departments newly established Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation Branch over the next year to determine appropriate performance measures and reporting for mental health and substance use services.	A Community Hub Performance Measurement Plan has been developed. The Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation Branch was created in 2020-21, and will support evaluation work going forward.	Fall 2021 and ongoing.	The survey will include information about client and staff experience. The plan includes delivering client surveys for a one-week period every three months. The surveys will launch in fall of 2021. The department is actively working with the Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation Branch to determine appropriate performance measures and reporting for MWSU taking into account the existing actions underway and future actions that may need to be added.





September 24, 2021

Kate White Vice-Chair Standing Committee on Public Accounts Box 2703 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Dear Kate White:

I am pleased to provide our responses to the Public Accounts Committee's clarification questions provided in your letter dated August 27, 2021, following the public hearing on the Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Legislative Assembly of Yukon – Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon – Department of Health and Social Services.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide additional information to the Public Accounts Committee on the work of the department. The responses to the clarification questions are attached to this letter.

Yours sincerely,

Stephen Samis Deputy Minister Health and Social Services

Department of Health and Social Services (HSS) Responses to the Public Accounts Committee August 27, 2021 Questions Re: Auditor General report on Mental Health Services in Rural Yukon

- 1. The action plan identifies multiple actions with a timeline listed as "Ongoing". Can the department provide any further details for these actions, with information on when specific steps are expected to be accomplished?
 - Now that the community hubs have a fulltime manager and two fulltime supervisors, HSS has been able to integrate a number of actions into regular business activities. These are listed as "ongoing" in the action plan.
 - HSS can provide further details in regards to some more time-limited actions, such as:
 - Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services (MWSU) will continue to respond to provide support in Watson Lake and Lower Post to community members effected by the demolition of the residential school, as and when requested by Liard Aboriginal Women's Society, Liard First Nation and Daylu Dena Council.
 - Please see question 8 for a detailed timeline for the development and launch of culturally relevant training.
 - A specific example of ongoing collaboration with First Nations is the Roots of Hope project:
 - The Yukon government is joining nine other Canadian jurisdictions in becoming the newest participants in the Roots of Hope and National Suicide Prevention Initiative. Roots of Hope was designed to help communities develop suicide prevention guidelines and tools that meet specific needs of the area's population. The project builds upon community expertise to implement suicide prevention interventions that are tailored to the local context.
 - The Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services branch is leading the department's participation in Roots of Hope, and is exploring partnership opportunities with various First Nations governments, the Council of Yukon First Nations, non-profit organizations, and Yukon University.
 - The first meeting of the Recruitment and Retention Advisory Council is taking place in Fall 2021.
- 2. Is the department able to provide more details on how progress on the ongoing actions will be determined? What are the anticipated results? Example: Over the next year the department has said that the newly established Population and Public Health Evidence and Evaluation (PPHEE) Branch will work to determine appropriate

Prepared by: Health and Social Services

Date: September 22, 2021 Page 1 of 7

performance measures and reporting for mental health and substance use services. How will this branch report both publically and internally?

- The progress made on the ongoing actions will be seen through the planned evaluation of the provision of mental wellness and substance use services, as described in the response to Question 12. Please see the response to question 12 for more detailed information regarding the collection of data and use of performance measures.
- Anticipated results of our ongoing actions include:
 - Improved structure for meeting, consultation and responding to First Nations partners;
 - Staff will participate in surveys and provide input to improve services as well as staff retention;
 - Direct client input on community programming;
 - Positive results from the implementation of our retention and recruitment plan;
 - MWSU will learn from and adjust services based on survey responses (including clients, staff and community partners); and
 - o Increased participation by MWSU staff in community events.
- PPHEE works to support department program areas in the development of evaluation plans and data gathering. With support from PPHEE, MWSU will gather its own data and use this information for continual service improvement. This evaluation of services may also inform the department's strategic or annual plan.
- 3. On page 2 of the action plan, one of the department's responses states "HSS will continue to seek to adjust and improve participation in trilateral processes with Yukon First Nations and the Government of Canada such as quarterly meetings of the Trilateral Table on Health and the identification of community needs through the Administration of Justice Agreement negotiations." The committee would appreciate further clarification on this item. Can the department explain the connection to the Administration of Justice Agreement and how it relates to mental health services?
 - Administration of Justice Agreements take a broad view of community wellbeing and this includes both the physical and mental health of community members. In past agreements, First Nations governments have identified actions in Administration of Justice Agreements that are specific to services provided by the Department of Health and Social Services and it is possible that future agreements could include actions related to Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services.

Prepared by: Health and Social Services

Date: September 22, 2021 Page **2** of **7**

- 4. While developing its recruitment and retention strategy for positions in rural Yukon, is the department considering offering higher salaries? If yes, what are the budget implications for these increased costs?
 - Salary ranges for all Yukon government positions are determined by the Public Service Commission and HSS works closely with PSC to have ongoing conversations about remaining competitive with other jurisdictions wage-wise. Our recruitment and retention strategy is about reaching a wider pool of applicants, for instance by reaching out to professional associations and postsecondary institutions directly to promote Yukon employment opportunities.
 - HSS is working on its recruitment materials to tell potential candidates what it
 means to live and work in the Yukon so that new staff are excited and committed
 to being part of the community and the Yukon. This will be beneficial for staff
 recruitment and to find the right fit for these positions, thus strengthening staff
 retention as well.
- 5. Currently 25 of 33 positions in the hubs are staffed. Is the department confident that all 33 positions will be filled? If so, when does the department expect to have all the positions filled?
 - There are current competitions to fill all of the vacant Hub positions.
 - If all current competitions are successful in recruiting new staff, we anticipate having all positions filled in the first few months of 2022.
 - HSS will continue to implement the recruitment and retention strategy we have developed to address staff turnover.
- 6. What was the science and reasoning that informed the department's decision to relocate three mental health nurse positions from the hubs to Whitehorse?
 - Mental Health Nurses are highly specialized professionals who serve individuals with complex, severe and persistent mental health disorders who require specialist care. Mental health nurse are not counsellors. They are specially trained to inform and administer medications to clients, assess clients for changing symptoms, report back to physicians and psychiatrists on symptom changes or development, and support clients through medication changes (i.e. increasing or tapering). This service is for a very specific population living with a complex diagnosed disorder, such as schizophrenia and bi-polar disorder. According to Canadian Mental Health Association of Canada, these complex disorders affects less than 2% of the population. Given the size of the rural hubs, this means the caseloads for the mental health nurse are quite small, compared to counselling caseloads (with more generalized mental health affecting up to 25% of the population).

Prepared by: Health and Social Services

- The mental health nurses will be able to see clients both in the rural community and meet them in Whitehorse when needed, improving their ability to provide coordinated support for clients with psychiatry, medication monitoring and, if needed, opioid treatment. Having a mental health nurse that can meet the client in Whitehorse as well as in the community is ideal.
- When the mental health nurse is not visiting the community, mental health support workers and counsellors, which have been much easier positions to fill, will be able to monitor and support clients in their home communities.
- Mental health nurses will continue to provide itinerant service in communities, as well as virtual services, and can see clients when they attend appointments in Whitehorse.
- 7. The department noted that communities would prefer continuity over other staffing models such as six weeks on and six weeks off. Will the department be considering models that may be less desirable to the communities if recruitment and retention issues continue?
 - The department will continue to meet regularly and consult with each community and will aim to provide services in the way that best meets the needs of every individual community.
- 8. The department is working with Yukon First Nations governments on the development of culturally relevant training for service providers. Can the department provide a more detailed timeline on when specific steps will be accomplished? When will the training program development be completed and when are all existing staff expected to have completed the training?
 - The following is a more detailed timeline for the development of culturally relevant training for service providers:
 - Establish contract with San'yas (contract is now in place)
 - Develop advisory committee for the Yukon First Nations content for the training (anticipated completion, October 2021)
 - Advisory Committee content development (complete by April 2022)
 - Testing of content with the Advisory Committee (April June 2022)
 - Launch training in Summer 2022
 - Offer training on an ongoing basis to all staff each 6 week course can accommodate 20 participants; precise rollout plan is in development now.
 - In addition to the San'yas program, MWSU staff will be taking culturally relevant training as offered by Yukon First Nations governments. For example, all Dawson MWSU staff are registered to take Tr'ondëk Hwëch'in First Nation 101 in the

Prepared by: Health and Social Services Date: September 22, 2021

next few months and staff in other communities are participating in on-the-land activities.

- 9. How will what is learned in the First Nations culture and history training courses be translated into the provision of mental services? How will the department measure the impact of the training?
 - First Nations Cultural and History trainings are meant to raise the awareness of clinical staff on Indigenous issues, history, culture and traditions. Specifically, these trainings are to inform staff of the history of the residential school system in Canada as well as other means by which the Canadian government's treatment of First Nations peoples impacted their culture, wellness, and livelihood. These trainings are meant to inform staff of how intergenerational trauma may impact the individuals with whom they work as well as the communities in which they work. Importantly, these trainings are also to highlight the importance of culture and tradition in First Nations communities and how cultural resources and traditional ways of being and healing may contribute to the wellness of Indigenous clients.
 - Culturally aware practice, managing cultural differences and understanding potential
 biases are a staple of counselling training as well as for social workers and master's
 level clinicians. These courses improve service delivery by allowing clinicians to
 adjust their general cultural practice ability to our specific Yukon population. This
 effectively increases awareness, cultural sensitivity and manages potential cultural
 differences between clinicians and clients.
 - We will continue to measure the effects of on-going cultural training through client surveys, staff feedback, clinical supervision and performance evaluation.
- 10. Can the department provide more details on the Mental Wellness and Substance Use Patient Advisory Committee? What is the committee's mandate and purpose? How frequently is the committee expected to meet and will the meetings have minutes?
 - The Mental Wellness and Substance Use Advisory Committee (Advisory Committee) is composed of representatives from CYFN, MWSU, community First Nations partners and persons with lived experience. The Committee will meet a minimum of four times per year and minutes will be kept for each meeting, including a list of attendees and decisions made.
 - Mandate:
 - The Advisory Committee shall:
 - Consider and provide suggestions to MWSU on ways to improve quality, access and sustainability of mental health services in Yukon.

Prepared by: Health and Social Services

- To advise on monitoring and evaluation of both program and system level impacts; and
- Ensure that cultural representation and safety are addressed in the development and implementation of services in Yukon.

Purpose:

- The Advisory Committee is a shared oversight and advisory group that includes Mental Wellness and Substance Use Services, and a group that is representative of the Yukon population, including Yukon First Nations, that represents, as best possible, all Yukon residents and persons with lived experience. The Advisory Committee will provide advice to Mental Wellness and Substance Use (MWSU) branch of Health and Social Services on service delivery and program design for a territory-wide mental health system, including advice on the implementation of the Mental Wellness Strategy.
- 11. The department noted during the hearing that interest in the First Nations partnership committee waned. What measures are being taken to ensure the Mental Wellness and Substance Use Patient Advisory Committee does not face the same issues?
 - The purpose of the committee is to improve services for clients and it directly involves persons with lived experience. This will include hearing from those who live in the communities and have experienced our services and it will gives them an opportunity to directly impact the delivery of services.
 - The department is making sure that individuals on the committee have regular input to make sure it remains relevant and is meeting the needs of members and communities to maintain momentum.
- 12. Can the department provide more information on how the data from the new electronic medical records will be used to evaluate and report on how mental health services are provided? What performance indicators have been identified? How will collected data be analyzed and reported?
 - Data from the electronic medical records will be used to submit data to national reports, such as:
 - The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) Shared Health Priorities.
 CIHI is currently reporting on wait times and is developing reports on navigation through the mental health system.
 - National Treatment Indicators annual reports coordinated through the Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction.

Prepared by: Health and Social Services Date: September 22, 2021

- Internally, data from the electronic medical records is being used in ongoing evaluation of the service delivery model for Old Crow and will be used for ongoing evaluation of overall programming as well.
- Electronic medical records are also a key data source for the performance measurement plan that is being implemented for the Community Hubs.
- Performance indicators that may be used include:
 - Referral sources
 - o External service providers/level of case management
 - Waitlist info
 - Demographics
 - o Intakes (year over year increases or decreases)
 - o Treatment length, including information on goals and progress
 - Discharge reasons, is a performance measure to improve successful goal attainment
 - Tracks assessment results over time (see improved mood, self-assessed satisfaction changes)
 - Attendance
- MWSU is working closely with PPHEE to establish the best methods for analyzing the data collected and used for internal quality improvement activities.

Prepared by: Health and Social Services Date: September 22, 2021